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WHEREUPON, the f o l l o w i n g proceedings were had a t 

10:28 a.m.: 

CHAIRMAN WROTENBERY: And then the l a s t of the 

i n a c t i v e w e l l cases w e ' l l c a l l next i s Case 12,739. This 

i s the A p p l i c a t i o n of the New Mexico O i l Conservation 

D i v i s i o n f o r an order r e q u i r i n g C o u l t h u r s t Management and 

Investments, I n c . , t o b r i n g 12 w e l l s i n t o compliance w i t h 

Rule 2 01.B and assessing appropriate c i v i l p e n a l t i e s , 

Sandoval County, New Mexico. 

This i s being heard by the Commission upon the 

A p p l i c a t i o n of Coulthurst Management and Investments, I n c . , 

f o r de novo review of the D i v i s i o n Order. 

And I ' l l c a l l f o r appearances. 

MR. BROOKS: May i t please the Commission, I'm 

David Brooks, A s s i s t a n t General Counsel, Energy, Minerals 

and N a t u r a l Resources Department of the State of New 

Mexico, appearing f o r the New Mexico O i l Conservation 

D i v i s i o n . I have one witness. 

CHAIRMAN WROTENBERY: Thank you, Mr. Brooks. 

MR. CARR: May i t please the Examiner, my name i s 

W i l l i a m F. Carr w i t h the Santa Fe o f f i c e of Holland and 

Hart, L.L.P. We represent C o u l t h u r s t Management and 

Investments, I nc. I have one witness. 

I also t h i n k the record should r e f l e c t t h a t Mr. 

Brooks and I have s t i p u l a t e d t h a t the testimony of Charles 
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P e r r i n t h a t was presented on October the 18th can be 

admitted i n t o the record of t h i s case on s t i p u l a t i o n and 

t h a t Mr. P e r r i n i s not r e q u i r e d t o be here today t o r e ­

present t h a t testimony. 

MR. BROOKS: That i s c o r r e c t . 

COMMISSIONER BAILEY: Thank you, Mr. Carr and Mr, 

Brooks. 

And your witness i s — 

MR. CARR: — i s John C o u l t h u r s t . 

CHAIRMAN WROTENBERY: Mr. Co u l t h u r s t , w i l l you — 

MR. CARR: Do you want t o go f i r s t — 

CHAIRMAN WROTENBERY: — remain standing and — 

MR. CARR: — I d i d n ' t know you had a witness — 

CHAIRMAN WROTENBERY: — be sworn — 

MR. BROOKS: Yes, Ms. Prouty — 

CHAIRMAN WROTENBERY: — and I assume Ms. Prouty 

w i l l be t e s t i f y i n g again? 

MR. BROOKS: Yes, she has p r e v i o u s l y been sworn. 

CHAIRMAN WROTENBERY: And she's p r e v i o u s l y been 

sworn. But Mr. Coulth u r s t , we need t o get you sworn i n . 

(Thereupon Mr. Coulthurst was sworn.) 

CHAIRMAN WROTENBERY: Thank you. 

MR. CARR: And i s Ms. Prouty going t o t e s t i f y 

f i r s t ? 

MR. BROOKS: Yes. 
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CHAIRMAN WROTENBERY: I t h i n k Ms. Prouty w i l l 

t e s t i f y f i r s t , Mr. Brooks w i l l present h i s case. 

MR. CARR: A l l r i g h t . 

MR. BROOKS: Okay. 

CHAIRMAN WROTENBERY: Thank you, Mr. C o u l t h u r s t . 

MR. BROOKS: C a l l Ms. Prouty. 

JANE E. PROUTY. 

the witness h e r e i n , a f t e r having been f i r s t d u l y sworn upon 

her oath, was examined and t e s t i f i e d as f o l l o w s : 

DIRECT EXAMINATION 

BY MR. BROOKS: 

Q. Ms. Prouty, would you s t a t e your name f o r the 

record, please? 

A. Jane Prouty. 

Q. And by whom are you employed? 

A. The O i l Conservation D i v i s i o n . 

Q. I n what capacity? 

A. I'm the manager of the area t h a t processes the 

C-115's, the production r e p o r t s . 

Q. And i n t h a t capacity are you respo n s i b l e f o r — 

you and your s t a f f and people t h a t work under your 

d i r e c t i o n — responsible f o r r e c e i v i n g the r e p o r t s f i l e d by 

operators concerning production on t h e i r w e l l s i n New 

Mexico and main t a i n i n g the records of the r e p o r t s so f i l e d ? 

A. Yes. 

STEVEN T. BRENNER, CCR 
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Q. I n t h i s connection, d i d I ask you t o prepare a 

r e p o r t through the most c u r r e n t a v a i l a b l e data concerning 

p r o d u c t i o n of w e l l s operated by C o u l t h u r s t Management and 

Investment Corp.? 

A. Yes. 

Q. I ' l l ask you t o look a t E x h i b i t Number 1 and 

i d e n t i f y i t f o r the record. 

A. That's the r e p o r t f o r the p a r t i c u l a r w e l l s you 

asked me. 

Q. The Commission has heard the manner — i n the 

previous case, testimony concerning the manner i n which 

these r e p o r t s are assembled, so they are f a m i l i a r w i t h i t . 

But f o r the record, would you j u s t very b r i e f l y review how 

these r e p o r t s are assembled? 

A. Yes. I ask the database f o r a l l o i l , gas, water 

or i n j e c t i o n — o i l , gas, water produced, or any i n j e c t i o n 

— from January, 1997, through the c u r r e n t time f o r the 

w e l l s t h a t you l i s t e d f o r me. And t h i s r e p o r t shows t h a t 

C-115's were f i l e d f o r every month, but these p a r t i c u l a r 

w e l l s d i d n ' t have any o i l , gas, water produced, or 

i n j e c t i o n volumes. I b e l i e v e t h a t ' s c o r r e c t . 

Q. Would you review the e x h i b i t and c o n f i r m t h a t , i n 

f a c t , t h e r e was no production reported? 

A. Correct, f o r these w e l l s t h e r e i s no p r o d u c t i o n . 

Q. And what i s the most recent month covered by 

STEVEN T. BRENNER, CCR 
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those reports? 

A. We've received the February — No, no, excuse me. 

We've received the January, 2002, r e p o r t , i s t h e most 

recent one. 

Q. And would you conclude from t h a t t h a t the w e l l s 

l i s t e d — and I f o r g e t e x a c t l y how many of them — the 

w e l l s l i s t e d on t h a t l i s t , on t h a t r e p o r t , remain i n a c t i v e 

through the month of January, 2002? 

A. Yes. 

MR. BROOKS: No f u r t h e r questions f o r t h i s 

w itness, pass the witness. 

MR. CARR: I have no questions of t h i s witness. 

CHAIRMAN WROTENBERY: Commissioners, any 

questions? 

COMMISSIONER BAILEY: No. 

COMMISSIONER LEE: (Shakes head) 

CHAIRMAN WROTENBERY: Thank you, Ms. Prouty. 

MR. BROOKS: We'll o f f e r E x h i b i t Number 1. 

MR. CARR: No o b j e c t i o n . 

CHAIRMAN WROTENBERY: E x h i b i t Number 1 i s 

admitted i n t o the record. 

MR. BROOKS: Okay, the remaining e x h i b i t s , 2 

through — l e t ' s see — 2, 3 — ther e should be a 4, but 

I'm not seeing i t i n my stack — 5, 6 — 5 and 6 — 2, 3, 4 

and 5 are copies of documents appearing i n the D i v i s i o n ' s 

STEVEN T. BRENNER, CCR 
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f i l e s . E x h i b i t Number 6 i s a copy of the t r a n s c r i p t of Mr. 

Pe r r i n ' s testimony a t the D i v i s i o n Hearing. I b e l i e v e a l l 

of these documents should be covered by the s t i p u l a t i o n 

between myself and Mr. Carr. I f you have any o b j e c t i o n , 

please so not. 

MR. CARR: I have no o b j e c t i o n t o the admission 

of these e x h i b i t s . 

MR. BROOKS: Okay, based on the s t i p u l a t i o n w e ' l l 

tender E x h i b i t s 2 through 6 i n c l u s i v e . 

CHAIRMAN WROTENBERY: E x h i b i t s 2 through 6 are 

admitted i n t o the record of evidence i n the case. 

And we do have an E x h i b i t Number 4 t h a t i s a note 

apparently from Mr. Coulthurst t o C h a r l i e P e r r i n . 

MR. BROOKS: Yes, t h a t ' s what i t should be. 

CHAIRMAN WROTENBERY: Okay. 

MR. BROOKS: Okay, Mr. Carr, would you f u r t h e r be 

prepared t o s t i p u l a t e t h a t E x h i b i t s Numbers 4, 5 and 6 

c o n s t i t u t e the only communications received by the D i v i s i o n 

from C o u l t h u r s t i n response t o t h i s proceeding p r i o r t o the 

D i v i s i o n Hearing? 

MR. CARR: I would s t i p u l a t e t h a t they are the 

communications received from Coulthurst p r i o r t o the 

D i v i s i o n . There has been communication since t h a t — 

MR. BROOKS: Yes, I b e l i e v e those communications 

would be i n the possession of the Commission, but i f not, 

STEVEN T. BRENNER, CCR 
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you may o f f e r them. 

Thank you very much. With t h a t , the D i v i s i o n 

r e s t s . 

CHAIRMAN WROTENBERY: I do have one question t o 

ask — 

MR. BROOKS: Sure. 

CHAIRMAN WROTENBERY: — t h a t Mr. Ross has 

poi n t e d out t h a t the testimony a t the D i v i s i o n Hearing was 

a c t u a l l y given by Frank Chavez instead of Charles Perrin? 

MR. BROOKS: I beli e v e t h a t i s c o r r e c t . I 

apologize f o r t h a t misunderstanding. Does our s t i p u l a t i o n 

also apply t o Mr. Chavez's testimony? 

MR. CARR: Yes, i t does. 

CHAIRMAN WROTENBERY: Okay. And would you 

e x p l a i n , Mr. Brooks, who Mr. Chavez i s? 

MR. BROOKS: Okay, I be l i e v e — 

CHAIRMAN WROTENBERY: I t h i n k he's — 

MR. BROOKS: — the record — 

CHAIRMAN WROTENBERY: — i t i s explained — 

MR. BROOKS: — of the D i v i s i o n Hearing w i l l 

r e f l e c t — 

CHAIRMAN WROTENBERY: — i n the record. 

MR. BROOKS: — t h a t Mr. Frank Chavez i s the 

D i s t r i c t Supervisor of D i s t r i c t Number 1, which includes — 

OCD D i s t r i c t Number 1, which includes San Juan and Rio 

STEVEN T. BRENNER, CCR 
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A r r i b a Counties, New Mexico, among other c o u n t i e s . 

CHAIRMAN WROTENBERY: And would you also e x p l a i n 

who Mr. P e r r i n i s , i f there i s one — 

MR. BROOKS: I be l i e v e — 

CHAIRMAN WROTENBERY: — f o r Mr. C o u l t h u r s t , who 

Mr. P e r r i n — 

MR. BROOKS: — t h a t the record w i l l probably — 

CHAIRMAN WROTENBERY: — are two — 

MR. BROOKS: — also r e f l e c t t h a t Mr. C h a r l i e 

P e r r i n i s a f i e l d r e p r e s e n t a t i v e w i t h the Aztec D i s t r i c t 

O f f i c e , who works under the s u p e r v i s i o n of Mr. Chavez. 

CHAIRMAN WROTENBERY: Okay, thank you. 

Anything else — 

MR. BROOKS: No, the — 

CHAIRMAN WROTENBERY: — Mr. Brooks? 

MR. BROOKS: — D i v i s i o n would r e s t a t t h i s 

p o i n t . 

CHAIRMAN WROTENBERY: Thank you, Mr. Brooks. 

Mr. Carr? 

MR. CARR: May i t please the Commission, a t t h i s 

time we c a l l John Coulthurst. 

CHAIRMAN WROTENBERY: Mr. Co u l t h u r s t , thank you 

f o r making the t r i p t o t e s t i f y before the Commission. 

MR. COULTHURST: I t ' s always nice going t o New 

Mexico. Thank you. 

STEVEN T. BRENNER, CCR 
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JOHN COULTHURST. 

the witness h e r e i n , a f t e r having been f i r s t duly sworn upon 

h i s oath, was examined and t e s t i f i e d as f o l l o w s : 

DIRECT EXAMINATION 

BY MR. CARR: 

Q. Would you s t a t e your f u l l name f o r the record, 

please? 

A. John Coulthurst. 

Q. Mr. Cou l t h u r s t , where do you reside? 

A. I n Berkeley, C a l i f o r n i a . 

Q. What i s your r e l a t i o n s h i p t o C o u l t h u r s t 

Management and Investment, Inc.? 

A. I am the presid e n t , sole owner and only o f f i c e r 

of t h a t c o r p o r a t i o n . 

Q. Would you describe f o r the Commission the nature 

of the business of Coulthurst Management and Investment? 

A. I t ' s a ho l d i n g company f o r o i l and gas 

p r o p e r t i e s . 

Q. Do you operate any p r o p e r t i e s other than those 

which are a t issue i n t h i s hearing? 

A. None whatsoever. 

Q. Have you p r e v i o u s l y t e s t i f i e d before t h i s 

Commission? 

A. No, s i r . 

Q. Would you review b r i e f l y your educational 

STEVEN T. BRENNER, CCR 
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background? 

A. I have a bachelor of a r t s i n economics out of 

Haverford College, outside of P h i l a d e l p h i a . 

Q. And when d i d you receive your degree? 

A. 1959. 

Q. Do you have any p r o f e s s i o n a l t r a i n i n g i n e i t h e r 

petroleum geology or engineering? 

A. No, I do not. 

Q. Do you r e l y on consultants and others f o r these 

types of t e c h n i c a l services? 

A. Absolutely. 

Q. Could you describe j u s t g e n e r a l l y your work 

experience as i t r e l a t e s t o the o i l and gas in d u s t r y ? 

A. Well, I invested as a l i m i t e d p a r t n e r i n a bunch 

of l i m i t e d p a r t n e r s h i p s i n the 1980s, ran i n t o Gene Wilson 

d u r i n g t h a t time and was very impressed by him. 

Q. And who i s Mr. Wilson? 

A. Mr. Wilson i s a w e l l known New Mexico g e o l o g i s t . 

He has about 50 years of experience. He's q u i t e a 

character, but an honorable man. 

Q. And i s t h i s i n d i v i d u a l who has provided 

g e o l o g i c a l e x p e r t i s e t o you i n t h i s e f f o r t ? 

A. Yes, he has. 

Q. When d i d you acquire your i n t e r e s t i n the South 

San Luis Pool? 

STEVEN T. BRENNER, CCR 
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A. 1991. 

Q. And are you f a m i l i a r w i t h the s t a t u s of the lands 

i n t h a t pool? 

A. Well, I'm not a g e o l o g i s t , but I t h i n k I know 

what's going on, yes. 

Q. And are you f a m i l i a r w i t h the s t a t u s o f the w e l l s 

i n t h a t pool? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Would you review f o r the Commission what i s the 

purpose of your testimony here today? 

A. Well, I ' d l i k e t o review the h i s t o r y , f o r one 

t h i n g , of Coulthurst Management and how we've been t r y i n g 

t o develop the p r o p e r t i e s , you know, which are the su b j e c t 

of t h i s A p p l i c a t i o n . 

Q. Y o u ' l l provide the Commission w i t h the c u r r e n t 

s t a t u s of these pr o p e r t i e s ? 

A. Yes. 

Q. There are 12 w e l l s t h a t are i n v o l v e d i n t h i s 

h e a r ing; i s n ' t t h a t correct? 

A. Correct. 

Q. And Ms. Prouty j u s t t e s t i f i e d t h a t none of those 

w e l l s were a c t i v e l y producing a t t h i s time. You agree w i t h 

t h a t , do you not? 

A. Abso l u t e l y . 

Q. You're also here today t o respond t o the O i l 
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Conservation D i v i s i o n ' s demand t o b r i n g c e r t a i n w e l l s i n t o 

compliance w i t h these r u l e s , are you not? 

A. Absolutely. I j u s t — That's why I'm here. 

Q. And you're going t o review f o r the Commission 

your plans and what you propose t o do t o meet t h a t 

o b j e c t i v e , b r i n g i n g these w e l l s i n t o compliance? 

A. Correct. 

Q. Now, when d i d you acquire these p r o p e r t i e s ? 

A. 1991. 

Q. And from whom? 

A. Noel Reynolds. 

Q. And what was your plan f o r these p r o p e r t i e s a t 

t h a t time? 

A. The plan, as recommended by a couple of experts, 

was t o acquire the p r o p e r t i e s and t o d r i l l deeper than a l l 

those o l d , shallow w e l l s , t o t r y t o f i n d an expected o i l 

zone a t around 600 f e e t . 

Q. At the time you acquired these p r o p e r t i e s , t h e r e 

was an engineering r e p o r t on them recommending w a t e r f l o o d 

operations? 

A. Yes, because of the f a c t I wouldn't acquire the 

p r o p e r t i e s knowing t h a t you can't get any serious 

p r o d u c t i o n out of reserves a t 600 f e e t w i t h o u t implementing 

a w a t e r f l o o d , t h a t ' s c o r r e c t . 

Q. And who was the i n d i v i d u a l who, i n f a c t , made 
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t h a t recommendation? 

A. Well, I don't r e a l l y know him w e l l , but he was 

recommended by Gene Wilson: W i l l i a m Weiss, out of the 

u n i v e r s i t y a t Socorro, I b e l i e v e . 

Q. And i t was on h i s recommendation t h a t you 

acquired these p r o p e r t i e s and intended t o implement 

waterfloods? 

A. Absolutely, t h a t ' s from day one. 

Q. We're t a l k i n g about c e r t a i n p r o p e r t i e s a t t h i s 

time. How many acres are we a c t u a l l y d e a l i n g with? 

A. B a s i c a l l y , w i t h the exception of the Jenny 1, 

which i s the n o r t h of the Section 33, we're b a s i c a l l y 

t a l k i n g about Section 33 less 80 acres. 

Q. And these are i n Township 18 North, Range 3 West? 

A. That's c o r r e c t . 

Q. How many w e l l s are there a c t u a l l y on these 

p r o p e r t i e s ? 

A. Well, the one Jenny w e l l , which i s i n Section 28, 

which we i n t e n d t o plug. And then t h e r e are s i x w e l l s t h a t 

we d r i l l e d i n Section 33, and I b e l i e v e e i g h t ancient w e l l s 

t h a t have been there f o r 20 or 30 years, a t l e a s t . 

Q. We have e i g h t o l d wells? 

A. Yes. 

Q. We have s i x new wells? 

A. Correct. 
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Q. We have 14 w e l l s t h a t are now i n t h i s r e s e r v o i r ? 

A. Correct. 

Q. Twelve of them are i n a c t i v e ? 

A. Well, a c t u a l l y only s i x of the w e l l s t h a t were 

d r i l l e d a c t u a l l y are i n the r e s e r v o i r t h a t we're t a l k i n g 

about. The o l d w e l l s are i n a t i n y r e s e r v o i r t h a t was the 

f i r s t w e l l s , you know, t o make t h a t f i e l d development 

o r i g i n a l l y . I don't know, i t might have been back i n the 

1950s. I don't have any w e l l f i l e s on them. 

Q. What are your c u r r e n t plans f o r these wells? 

A. I t ' s never changed and t h a t i s , now t h a t we have 

two good w e l l s t h a t are now winding down as f a r as i n i t i a l 

p r o d u c t i o n because of gas — not gas but pressures — we 

intended, and I do i n t e n d , t o implement a w a t e r f l o o d . 

That's what our i n t e n t i o n i s . 

Q. Two w e l l s w i l l be producing i n t h a t waterflood? 

A. At the beginning, yes, s i r . 

Q. And how many w e l l s are you i n i t i a l l y hoping t o 

plug and abandon? 

A. We need t o plug — This i s what the g e o l o g i s t 

recommended. We needed t o plug f o u r of those o l d e i g h t 

w e l l s as soon as po s s i b l e . 

Q. So fo u r plugged, two producing, and the balance 

of those you i n t e n d t o b r i n g i n t o t e m p o r a r i l y abandoned 

s t a t u s or convert t o water wells? 
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A. Right, due t o the f a c t t h a t we don't need them 

f o r water purposes. I n other words, we're not using those 

w e l l s f o r i n j e c t i o n w e l l s . We're going t o need water t o 

i n j e c t the new i n j e c t i o n w e l l t h a t we had hoped t o do t h i s 

f a l l , and those are going t o be the sources. And a c t u a l l y 

f o u r of those o l d w e l l s we are hoping t o keep as p o t e n t i a l 

water sources f o r w e l l s t o be d r i l l e d i n the f u t u r e , deeper 

i n t h a t o l d area of the f i e l d . 

Q. What volumes have been produced from t h i s area 

p r i o r t o your a c q u i s i t i o n of the property? 

A. I saw p r i o r t o purchasing the p r o p e r t y t h a t the 

o l d w e l l s produced over a pe r i o d of 20 t o 40 years 

something i n the neighborhood of 2000 b a r r e l s . 

Q. And since you acquired the p r o p e r t i e s , what's the 

cumulative production? 

A. The cumulative production i s e x a c t l y 1000 percent 

more than t h a t over the l a s t nine years. We have produced 

over 20,000 b a r r e l s and are producing a t the r a t e of 2700 

b a r r e l s a day — I mean a year, I wish i t was a day — 

r i g h t now, and we are extremely proud of our record . 

Q. How o l d are these wells? 

A. Which wells? 

Q. The w e l l s t h a t you acquired from Mr. Reynolds. 

A. Well, I don't have w e l l f i l e s on them, but I am 

t o l d t h ey're between 20 and 50 years o l d . 
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Q. And how deep are the w e l l s t h a t you i n i t i a l l y 

acquired? 

A. Almost a l l of them are around 350 t o 400-and-

something f e e t . 

Q. And the w e l l s t h a t you've d r i l l e d , are they 

deeper than t h a t ? 

A. They're down t o about 700 f e e t , yes, s i r . 

Q. Are there freshwater zones i n the area? 

A. Yes, there are. 

Q. I s water being used, f r e s h water, f o r any purpose 

i n t h i s area? 

A. Yes, we o f f e r e d a t the request of the farmer, or 

the c a t t l e farmer i n the area — we have been a l l o w i n g him 

t o use water t h a t we get from our w e l l s t h a t are producing, 

and t h a t we had the water t e s t e d and we had the BLA 

approval a t no cost t o the farmer and a t no cost t o the BLM 

so t h a t the farmer could get water. 

Q. I s he using i t f o r stock water? 

A. Yes he i s , s i r . 

Q. What i s the character of the land upon which a l l 

of these w e l l s are located? State, f e d e r a l or fee? 

A. I t ' s a l l f e d e r a l . 

Q. And have you been working w i t h the Bureau of Land 

Management concerning these p r o p e r t i e s ? 

A. Very c l o s e l y . 
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Q. What s o r t of bond have you i n place t o cover your 

operations on these properties? 

A. We have a $25,000 Bank of America CD i n the BLM 

name. 

Q. Could you j u s t b r i e f l y review your e f f o r t s w i t h 

the Bureau of Land Management t o deal w i t h these w e l l s i n 

t h e i r c u r r e n t status? 

A. Around nineteen n i n e t y - — I was going t o say — 

Let me go t o the next page, because I want t o be as 

accurate as I can. 1998, the BLM sent me a c e r t i f i e d 

l e t t e r a t my c u r r e n t address, which has been the same f o r 

te n years, g i v i n g me the same — I'm not a lawyer, but i t 

looked l i k e the same l e t t e r t h a t I got from the OCD, w i t h 

the same t y p i c a l 3 0 days put up or — you know, or you're 

going t o get shot, which i s very e x c i t i n g when you're not a 

lawyer, l e t me t e l l you. I've never received a l e t t e r l i k e 

t h a t i n my l i f e , and i t ' s very f r i g h t e n i n g . 

And when I got t h a t l e t t e r I immediately c a l l e d 

up the BLM and t a l k e d w i t h both Pat Hester and B r i a n Davis, 

who i s a g e o l o g i s t f o r the BLM, and reviewed what we were 

doing and t e l l i n g them i n no u n c e r t a i n terms t h a t we were 

i n the same boat t h a t they were, i n the same d i r e c t i o n , and 

t h a t we're spending 100 percent of our cash f l o w t o expand 

the p r o d u c t i o n of the f i e l d , and had done so. 

Q. They t o l d you b a s i c a l l y you had t o do something 
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w i t h these i n a c t i v e w e l l s , d i d they not? 

A. That's r i g h t , and they s a i d t h a t what we had t o 

do — they s a i d , Well, what do you want t o do? 

And I s a i d , We want t o spend 100 percent of our 

cash f l o w t o get the production up and going and t o form a 

w a t e r f l o o d on the BLM land, and i f we spent money g e t t i n g 

r i d of the plugging of some of these o l d w e l l s before we 

were ready t o d r i l l the i n j e c t i o n w e l l , then we would have 

t o — because we were working w i t h our cash f l o w , we're a 

small company, and t h a t you couldn't have i t both ways. I f 

we wanted t o expand the production, then would they be so 

k i n d as t o l e t us do so and put o f f f o r a w h i l e , w h i l e we 

di d the good work f o r the waterflood? 

Q. Did they r e q u i r e t h a t you submit a w r i t t e n 

proposal f o r the implementation of a waterflood? 

A. That i s c o r r e c t , i t took me 90 days. I n f a c t , I 

came t o see you j u s t before t h a t a t the recommendation of a 

f r i e n d . And you sa i d , F i l l out the paperwork, they're good 

people t o work w i t h . And I d i d t h a t , i t took me 9 0 days. 

And I'm not saying — 

Q. Who as s i s t e d you i n t h a t regard, w i t h t e c h n i c a l 

work? 

A. Well, the t e c h n i c a l work was a l l work done i n the 

past by Gene Wilson and Mr. Weiss. 

Q. And t h a t r e p o r t provided t h a t you would be 
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d r i l l i n g an i n j e c t i o n w e l l h o p e f u l l y i n the f a l l of t h i s 

year? 

A. That 1s c o r r e c t . 

Q. When were you contacted by the O i l Conservation 

D i v i s i o n ? 

A. Well, the records show t h a t they sent me a l e t t e r 

on May the 2nd, I had i n my f i l e . Amazing, because I'm not 

the world's best f i l e r . But anyway, I d i d have t h a t i n my 

f i l e , and i t s a i d something about Bradenhead t e s t s and t o 

submit a pl a n w i t h i n 3 0 days on t h i s BLM lease. 

Q. Did you respond d i r e c t l y t o the OCD? 

A. No, I d i d not, because — and t h a t was a b i g , b i g 

mistake — because I ' d already answered t h a t same basic 

question of what we were going t o do w i t h the w e l l s , w i t h 

the BLM. 

Q. You're aware t h a t there was a hearing i n 

September of l a s t year concerning these wells? 

A. Yes, s i r . 

Q. And when d i d you l e a r n about t h a t hearing? 

A. I learned of i t Thursday afternoon, f i v e o'clock 

west coast time, when the phone rang and Mr. P e r r i n was on 

the phone. 

Q. And t h a t ' s Mr. P e r r i n from the Aztec o f f i c e of 

the D i v i s i o n ? 

A. That's what he sai d , yes. 
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Q. And t h a t was the Thursday afternoon immediately 

preceding the hearing; i s t h a t c o r r e c t ? 

A. That i s c o r r e c t , a very f r i g h t e n i n g t h i n g t o get. 

Q. And what happened a t t h a t time? 

A. He s a i d , Why d i d n ' t you respond t o our l e t t e r ? 

And I s a i d , What l e t t e r ? 

And he s a i d , The one we sent you by c e r t i f i e d 

m a i l . 

And I said I had not received any n o t i c e s i n my 

box t h a t I had a c e r t i f i e d l e t t e r , from anybody. 

Q. You d i d not receive a l e t t e r ? 

A. No, s i r . 

Q. You would agree t h a t when c e r t i f i e d m a i l i s sent 

t o someone, people normally receive i t ? 

A. Not only t h a t , i f they don't rec e i v e i t when 

they're — you know, i f they're not home, they're supposed 

t o get a r e c e i p t saying, you know, we have t r i e d t o d e l i v e r 

a l e t t e r . 

Q. But you were unaware of the hearing t i l l the 

Thursday before? 

A. That i s a b s o l u t e l y c o r r e c t . 

Q. And what d i d you do? 

A. I asked Mr. P e r r i n , what the heaven's name could 

I do? 

He s a i d , Give me a t i m e t a b l e so t h a t — when you 
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could take care of these requests. And he t o l d me the 

requests. He was very h e l p f u l on the phone. 

And I s a i d , Well, how much time do I have t o 

f i g u r e t h i s out? 

And he s a i d , Two and a h a l f days. 

Q. And were you able t o meet t h a t deadline? 

A. I sure t r i e d , I c a l l e d everybody I could, and the 

answer i s , I couldn't even — I don't have f i l e s on i t , the 

BLM s a i d i t ' s impossible t o give you a date as t o when you 

could even get the answer back i f you could f i l l out the 

forms and get them t o us i n two days. 

Q. And when you say t h a t , you're t a l k i n g about a 

plugging program approved by the BLM; i s t h a t c o r r e c t ? 

A. That's c o r r e c t . I f i n a l l y got ahold of somebody 

i n the second day, which was Monday, I b e l i e v e , who would 

c a l l me back since I have no — I've never d e a l t w i t h a 

plugging company i n my l i f e and d i d n ' t expect t o do so 

u n t i l they got i n t o t h i s w a t e r f l o o d . 

And I f i n a l l y — They c a l l e d back and they s a i d , 

We can't give you a date, we're very busy. We'll g i v e you 

a date a f t e r you give us the form t h a t ' s been approved by 

the BLM. 

Q. And t h a t was when you requested the continuance 

of the hearing; i s t h a t correct? 

A. I d i d n ' t know what else t o do, yes. 
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Q. And t h a t ' s what has been included as E x h i b i t 5 i n 

the e x h i b i t s of the O i l Conservation — 

A. I b e l i e v e so. 

Q. No extension was granted, c o r r e c t ? 

A. Apparently not. 

Q. And the matter went t o hearing. Did you, 

f o l l o w i n g the hearing, have f u r t h e r conversations w i t h the 

O i l Conservation Divi s i o n ? 

A. Yes, I was away on business the week the hearing 

was he l d . I remember — t h i n k t h a t was a Thursday, and 

C h a r l i e P e r r i n l e f t h i s o f f i c e Tuesday, so he needed every 

answer by Tuesday mid-day. 

And the week I got back, I t h i n k Monday morning, 

I s t a r t e d c a l l i n g around, t r y i n g t o f i g u r e out what t o do. 

And I c a l l e d Mr. P e r r i n , c a l l e d the BLM, c a l l e d the 

plugging company and went from th e r e . 

Q. Did you submit t o the O i l Conservation D i v i s i o n a 

w r i t t e n proposal f o r t h i s work? 

A. Yes, I d i d . 

Q. And when d i d you do t h a t ? 

A. I'm l o o k i n g back i n my records on these notes, 

because I r e a l l y don't remember. 

I b e l i e v e i t was November the 8 t h . I s t h a t 

r i g h t , B i l l ? Do you have t h a t i n your f i l e someplace? 

Q. There i s a copy of i t , I b e l i e v e , i n f r o n t of you 
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t h e r e . 

A. Well, there's been more than one, there's been 

a l o t of — Oh, yes, 11-8 was the date t h a t I got i t by 

e-mail t o Mr. P e r r i n — 

Q. And t h a t , may i t please the Commission — 

A. — and Pat Hester, by the way. 

Q. And t h a t has been marked as C o u l t h u r s t E x h i b i t 

Number 1. 

What a c t i o n d i d the D i v i s i o n take as a r e s u l t of 

the Examiner Hearing? 

A. I'm not sure I understand your — 

Q. Was an order entered f o l l o w i n g the Examiner 

Hearing? 

A. Well, I got a f i n e i n the m a i l which s a i d you're 

f i n e d and an order w i t h i t , I b e l i e v e . I s t h a t what — 

Q. And d i d t h a t order d i r e c t you t o p l u g or r e t u r n 

the w e l l s t o b e n e f i c i a l use? 

A. Absol u t e l y , and I had no argument w i t h i t . 

Q. And i t imposed a $12,000 f i n e , d i d i t not? 

A. Yes, I'm a l i t t l e upset by t h a t . 

Q. What have you done since the D i v i s i o n entered the 

order? 

A. Well, I guess I would c a l l i t p l a y i n g ping-pong 

between the plugging company and the BLM and t a l k i n g t o 

C h a r l i e P e r r i n . I haven't t a l k e d t o C h a r l i e i n about 
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probably a month and a h a l f , because our f i r s t — We had 

two d i f f e r e n t types of f i l i n g s w i t h the BLM. 

The f i r s t one was w i t h a request t o i n t e g r i t y -

t e s t f o u r w e l l s . That went back and f o r t h t w i c e or t h r e e 

times, and I f i n a l l y got the approval i n w r i t i n g about two 

weeks ago from the BLM. 

The other w i t h the plugging, w i t h the w e l l s on 

i t , t h a t ' s gone back twice now t o the BLM, and they've 

changed the ground r u l e s on what we had intended, which i s 

a g r e a t e r problem. 

Q. Did they increase the cementing and p e r f o r a t i n g 

requirements f o r the proposed plugging? 

A. Yes, I a c t u a l l y haven't t a l k e d t o them i n d e t a i l , 

because I wanted t o get the form reviewed and f i l e d and 

agreed t o as f a s t as pos s i b l e so t h a t I could g i v e i t t o 

everybody here and Mr. P e r r i n and then t a l k t o the BLM as 

t o what they were t a l k i n g about. But they suggested t h a t 

we need t o , on these 400-foot, roughly, o l d w e l l s , t o 

p e r f o r a t e and t o squeeze cement behind them t o p r o t e c t , I 

suspect, the environment. And we're i n favor of doing 

anything they recommend, but i t increases the cost 

d r a m a t i c a l l y . 

Q. Did you meet w i t h the BLM concerning t h e i r 

a d d i t i o n a l requirements f o r the plugging of these wells? 

A. Well, not i n the sense of — I asked them when I 
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t a l k e d w i t h them r e c e n t l y — i n f a c t , I t a l k e d t o Pat 

Hester yesterday and I s a i d , Pat, have you had a chance t o 

review w i t h the engineer as t o whether or not we could do 

t h i s j u s t by having p r o f e s s i o n a l s cement the o l d w e l l s i n , 

j u s t l i k e Noel Reynolds d i d , I t h i n k maybe a m i l e n o r t h of 

us, so t h a t we could do i t cheaper and b e t t e r and leave us 

more funds t o complete our process on the waterflood? 

And she s a i d she hadn't done i t y e t , she'd be out 

t h i s week and expected t o be able t o come back i n the next 

couple of weeks w i t h — e i t h e r signed o f f on the p l u g g i n g 

or something t o help us. 

Q. Now, who i s the c o n t r a c t o r t h a t you're working 

with? 

A. I t ' s Phoenix Well Service. 

Q. And they're i n L i n d r i t h , New Mexico 

A. Yes. I've never been t h e r e , but t h a t ' s what they 

t e l l me. 

Q. What are the — a t t h i s p o i n t i n time, the 

estimated costs you're l o o k i n g a t f o r plugging each w e l l ? 

A. Noel Reynolds d i d h i s f o r about -- something l i k e 

$1500 a w e l l , and the p r o f e s s i o n a l engineer a t the L i n d r i t h 

Company says t h a t they are e s t i m a t i n g close t o $5000 

because of having t o go i n t o each w e l l , p e r f o r a t e , squeeze, 

e t c e t e r a . 

Q. And what are the estimated costs f o r i n t e g r i t y 
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t e s t i n g ? 

A. They are suggesting t h a t i t ' s going t o cost 

something i n the neighborhood of $2500 per w e l l . 

Q. At t h i s p o i n t i n time, where are you i n the 

process of t r y i n g t o b r i n g w e l l s i n t o compliance w i t h OCD 

rul e s ? 

A. Well, we're w a i t i n g f o r the l a s t b i t of approval 

from the BLM, and then — t h a t ' s what we're w a i t i n g f o r . 

Q. And then when you get t h a t approval from the BLM, 

what do you i n t e n d t o do? 

A. I i n t e n d t o , as soon as p o s s i b l e , plug the f o u r 

w e l l s , and t o get the OCD t o t a l k t o the BLM so t h a t we can 

have a meeting of the minds on the w a t e r f l o o d a l s o . 

Q. Are you then i n t e n d i n g t o go forward w i t h the 

other work r e q u i r e d t o b r i n g the w e l l s i n t o compliance w i t h 

OCD Rules? 

A. Absolutely. 

Q. And what do you request be done here today? 

A. You mean, when w i l l the w r i t t e n request be done? 

Q. No, what are you asking the Commission t o do 

today? 

A. Well, I'm asking them t o give me enough time so 

t h a t I can get the BLM t o be happy w i t h the OCD and the OCD 

t o be happy w i t h the BLM, because I've given my word on the 

development of the property through the w a t e r f l o o d , which 
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i s why I f i l l e d out t h a t paperwork a year and a h a l f ago. 

Q. And you'd f o r everybody, then, t o be happy w i t h 

you? 

A. Heavens, yes, I'm not f i g h t i n g w i t h anybody. 

You're preaching t o the c h o i r . 

Q. Are you requesting t h a t t h i s case be continued 

f o r a p e r i o d of time? 

A. We're going t o need enough time t o get the 

paperwork from the BLM, t a l k w i t h C h a r l i e P e r r i n , t a l k w i t h 

Pat Hester and see i f t h e r e can't be a l e g i t i m a t e 

compromise so the BLM i s happy, the OCD i s happy, and we 

can get on w i t h our j o b . 

Q. I f t h i s case i s continued, w i l l you plug f o u r 

w e l l s ? 

A. Absolutely. 

Q. I f t h i s case i s continued, w i l l you go forward 

w i t h Mr. P e r r i n ' s c o o r d i n a t i n g e f f o r t s t o b r i n g t h i s 

p r o p e r t y i n t o compliance w i t h OCD Rules? 

A. Ab s o l u t e l y , and may I also say i n Mr. P e r r i n ' s 

defense t h a t Mr. P e r r i n and the OCD had a b s o l u t e l y no 

knowledge of the w a t e r f l o o d a p p l i c a t i o n s t h a t I f i l e d w i t h 

the BLM, the BLM never sai d t h a t I should f i l e i t j o i n t l y 

w i t h the OCD, and so consequently they d i d n ' t know. 

Q. During t h i s p e r i o d of time w i l l you a l s o f i l e the 

forms f o r the w a t e r f l o o d e f f o r t w i t h the O i l Conservation 
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D i v i s i o n ? 

A. Yeah, you're g e t t i n g tough. You know, i f I have 

t o , I c e r t a i n l y w i l l s lug my way through i t , yes. 

Q. And we've discussed what t h a t w i l l e n t a i l , have 

we not? 

A. A c t u a l l y , you've only sa i d t h a t i t ' s p r e t t y 

complex. I t sounds a l i t t l e f r i g h t e n i n g , but t h a t ' s why 

they have engineers. 

Q. A l l r i g h t . During t h i s p e r i o d of time w i l l you 

coordinate your a c t i v i t i e s w i t h Mr. Perrin? 

A. Abso l u t e l y , because i f we don't get an agreement 

w i t h the BLM and OCD on t h i s , then i f I do e v e r y t h i n g t h a t 

C h a r l i e P e r r i n wants me t o do — i f I had the money, a l l of 

i t — then I'm going against the BLM promise t h a t I made t o 

them and the f i l i n g t h a t I d i d t o them. 

Q. Now, money i s a c r i t i c a l f a c t o r i n t h i s matter, 

i s i t not? 

A. Yeah, we're j u s t a small — we are, we're a small 

company. 

Q. What i s the impact on your e f f o r t s t o b r i n g these 

w e l l s i n t o compliance w i t h the $12,000 f i n e ? 

A. Well, obviously i t would c r i p p l e i t because we 

don't have a l o t of money. 

Q. Are you requesting t h a t i f you meet r e g u l a t o r y 

requirements w i t h i n the continuance p e r i o d , t h a t no f i n e be 
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imposed? 

A. I sure hope so. I ' d l i k e t o spend the money 

i n t e l l i g e n t l y , r a t h e r than j u s t spend i t on f i n e s . 

Q. How much time are you going t o need t o get t h i s 

t h i n g going forward, r e a l i s t i c a l l y ? 

A. Well, l e t ' s say — you know, I'm a hopeful person 

— l e t ' s say i t takes two t o f o u r weeks t o get the 

paperwork signed and everybody happy w i t h whatever they 

need t o get done on the plugging paperwork w i t h t h e BLM. 

Then I'm hoping t h a t we can s t a r t immediately 

w i t h C h a r l i e P e r r i n and Pat Hester and get some agreement 

f a s t , and then d u r i n g t h a t time get the plugging company t o 

go i n t h e r e and plug those f o u r w e l l s as f a s t as p o s s i b l e . 

And the l a s t time I asked t h a t question they s a i d f o u r t o 

e i g h t weeks, maximum. 

Q. How much time do you t h i n k you need? 

A. Well, my problem i s , I can't t e l l you how long i t 

w i l l take Mr. P e r r i n and the BLM t o have an agreement t h a t 

they both can l i v e w i t h . But I'm hopeful t h a t , you know, 

way i n advance of s i x months we can get e v e r y t h i n g done, 

everybody happy, and we'd be o f f and running on the 

development. 

MR. CARR: That concludes my examination of Mr. 

Cou l t h u r s t . 

We'd move the admission i n t o evidence of 
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C o u l t h u r s t E x h i b i t Number 1. 

MR. BROOKS: No o b j e c t i o n . 

CHAIRMAN WROTENBERY: Cou l t h u r s t E x h i b i t Number 1 

i s admitted as evidence. 

And — 

MR. CARR: And I pass the witness. 

CHAIRMAN WROTENBERY: — Mr. Brooks? 

MR. BROOKS: Thank you. 

EXAMINATION 

BY MR. BROOKS: 

Q. Mr. Coulth u r s t , l e t me r e t r i e v e OCD E x h i b i t 

Number 1 from t h a t t a b l e , i f I may. Thank you. 

A. Sure. 

Q. To c l a r i f y the record, because you have t e s t i f i e d 

concerning the amount of production you have i n t h i s area, 

the evidence has been o f f e r e d by the D i v i s i o n t h a t the Ann 

Number 3, 5, 6 and 15, and the Darla Number 1, 2, 7, 16 and 

the E r i n Number 1, 3, 4 and the Jenny Number 1 — a l l of 

those w e l l s are i n a c t i v e and have been i n a c t i v e 

c o n t i n u o u s l y f o r a per i o d of f i v e years. 

Do you dispute t h a t ? 

A. What was your phrase about — f o r the p e r i o d of 

f i v e years they were what? 

Q. I n a c t i v e , there's been no pro d u c t i o n from those 

wells? 
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A. A b s o l u t e l y c o r r e c t . And not only t h a t , but I'm 

going t o t e l l you t h a t we never intended t o produce the o l d 

w e l l s because they're not economic. 

Q. Okay. Did you say t h a t you — and are these — 

the w e l l s t h a t I l i s t e d , are those a l l o l d wells? 

A. No, s i r . The E r i n w e l l s are a l l i n t h a t group of 

w e l l s t h a t we d r i l l e d l o o k i n g f o r o i l , but u n f o r t u n a t e l y we 

only h i t two good o i l w e l l s out of those E r i n w e l l s . But 

two of them are o f f s e t t i n g the producing w e l l s and t hey're 

p e r f e c t , a b s o l u t e l y p e r f e c t , water sources f o r the water 

i n j e c t i o n w e l l t h a t w i l l be put i n between the E r i n 2 and 

the 9. 

Q. Now, the E r i n 1, 3, 4 — 

A. The 3 and 4 are going t o be used f o r the 

i n j e c t i o n — f o r water sources — 

Q. Okay. 

A. — f o r our h o p e f u l l y new water i n j e c t i o n w e l l . 

The E r i n 1 happens t o have a bad cement j o b 

behind i t , and i t looks l i k e i t h i t the o i l zone. We 

d i d n ' t want t o spend the money on t r y i n g t o remediate the 

cement job u n t i l a f t e r we got the water i n j e c t i o n w e l l 

s t a r t e d , because t h a t would be very important t o the 

revenues of both the s t a t e , the BLM and yours t r u l y . 

Q. Now, the f i v e Ann w e l l s t h a t I l i s t e d , are those 

among the o l d w e l l s t h a t you never intended t o produce? 
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A. Absolutely. 

Q. And what do you inte n d t o do w i t h those? 

A. Well, the Ann w e l l s and — what are the other o i l 

w e l l s c a l l e d ? 

Q. And then t h e r e are — ther e are f i v e — 

A. Darla — 

Q. — Ann w e l l s — 

A. — the Darla and the Ann w e l l s . 

Q. — and there are three Darla w e l l s — 

A. Okay, look — 

Q. — a c t u a l l y four Darla w e l l s . 

A. Yeah. F i r s t of a l l — 

CHAIRMAN WROTENBERY: May I ask a question — 

MR. BROOKS: Sure. 

THE WITNESS: Sure. 

CHAIRMAN WROTENBERY: — qu i c k l y ? What are the 

f i v e Ann wells? Because on the l i s t i n f r o n t of me I see 

fo u r Ann w e l l s . 

MR. BROOKS: Okay, I may be mistaken. There's 

the Number 3, the Number 5, the Number 6 and the Number 15. 

I stand c o r r e c t e d , there are fou r Ann w e l l s — 

CHAIRMAN WROTENBERY: Okay. 

THE WITNESS: And fou r Darla. 

MR. BROOKS: — and there are f o u r Darla w e l l s , 

the Number 1, the Number 2, the Number 7 and the Number 16. 
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Go ahead. 

CHAIRMAN WROTENBERY: Thank you. 

THE WITNESS: And I'm so r r y , what was the exact 

question? 

Q. (By Mr. Brooks) Well, I don't remember f o r sure, 

so l e t me go back — 

A. Well, do you want t o know what we want t o do w i t h 

those wells? 

Q. What are you going t o do w i t h the f o u r Ann w e l l s , 

f i r s t o f f ? 

A. Well, the l i s t — My o r i g i n a l request t o C h a r l i e 

was t o plug the Ann 5, the Ann 6, the Darla 16. And I 

changed t h a t a couple days l a t e r ; I wanted t o put the Jenny 

Number w e l l [ s i c ] i n t h a t plugging group. So I want t o 

plu g the Ann 5, the Ann 6 and the Darla 16 of the o l d 

w e l l s , okay? 

Q. Yes. 

A. The Jenny Number 1 i s a new w e l l t h a t ' s n o r t h of 

th e r e . And we want t o keep the r e s t of the o l d w e l l s as a 

water source, not t o pressurize them or t o , you know, use 

them as an i n j e c t i o n w e l l . 

Why? Because we can't t e l l y e t — U n t i l we d r i l l 

a deeper w e l l , r i g h t i n t h a t area — nobody's ever done i t 

— we are hoping, reasonably, and the g e o l o g i s t s are 

suggesting i t , t h a t i f we — when we d r i l l a w e l l t h e r e , we 
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could use those w e l l s as a water source f o r another 

i n j e c t i o n w e l l , i n f a c t , maybe two i n j e c t i o n w e l l s . 

Now, i f we plug a l l of these o l d w e l l s , then by 

d e f i n i t i o n i t ' s going t o cost us a l o t more money when we 

d r i l l a w e l l . Now, i f we d r i l l a w e l l i n t h a t area and 

i t ' s no good, then obviously we should — and we would 

v o l u n t e e r t o plug those w e l l s immediately because we don't 

have any use f o r them. 

Q. Well, l e t me get back t o where I was here, t o 

make sure I understand t h i s c o r r e c t l y . 

A. Okay. 

Q. The Ann w e l l s and the Darla w e l l s , are those a l l 

o l d wells? 

A. They're ancient. 

Q. And the E r i n w e l l s — 

A. — are a l l new. 

Q. — are new w e l l s t h a t you've d r i l l e d ? 

A. Yes, s i r . 

Q. And the Jenny w e l l s are also new wells? 

A. There's one Jenny w e l l and t h a t was a new w e l l t o 

the n o r t h . We were hoping t o get lucky and extend the 

f i e l d , but i t d i d n ' t work. 

Q. Okay. 

A. Although we t r i e d . I t looked p r e t t y good on 

the ~ 
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Q. Now, according t o your schedule, which I had not 

focused on and I should, two of the Ann w e l l s , t h e Numbers 

5 and 6, are t o be plugged? 

A. Yes, s i r . 

Q. One of them i s t o be converted t o a water w e l l . 

T h a t 1 s the Ann Number 3, correc t ? 

A. Yes, s i r . 

Q. Now, then there's also on our l i s t the Ann Number 

15. What i s your intended d i s p o s i t i o n of t h a t ? 

A. I have no idea what the Ann 15 even i s . You have 

me. 

Q. Okay, so you're not acquainted w i t h the Ann 

Number 15? 

A. I c e r t a i n l y am not, no. 

Q. And t h a t would be located according t o our 

records i n U n i t L e t t e r A, which would be the northeast 

q u a r t e r of the northeast quarter of Section 33, Township 18 

North, Range 3 West. 

A. That's the Ann 15? 

Q. Yes. 

A. Okay. 

Q. Okay. Now the Darla w e l l s , t h e r e are f o u r of 

those. You plan t o plug one and you plan t o convert t h r e e 

t o water w e l l s , correct? 

A. Right. Not water i n j e c t i o n , water w e l l s . 
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Q. Water-producing wells? 

A. Water-producing, j u s t l i k e i f somebody d r i l l e d a 

water w e l l f o r you. 

Q. Okay. Now, the E r i n w e l l s , what do you pl a n t o 

do w i t h those? 

A. E r i n 3 and 4, we've already checked the v i a b i l i t y 

— t h e i r waterflow p o t e n t i a l , and they both should be 

combined — the idea i s t o combine them j o i n t l y w i t h one 

p i p e l i n e d i r e c t l y t o the water i n j e c t i o n w e l l n o r t h of 

t h e r e , which we haven't d r i l l e d y e t . 

Q. Now, what f u n c t i o n w i l l these serve? W i l l these 

be — 

A. Just l i k e the r e s t of those o l d — 

Q. — water wells? 

A. — water w e l l s . 

Q. Okay. 

A. They're not water i n j e c t i o n w e l l s , t h e r e w i l l be 

no pressure on them. 

Q. And which w e l l s w i l l be your producing w e l l s ? 

A. At the moment the E r i n 2 and the E r i n 9. 

Q. They're not on our l i s t , r i g h t ? 

A. No, because they're producing. 

Q. So would a l l three of the E r i n w e l l s be water 

w e l l s , water-production wells? 

A. Two of them are going t o be water w e l l s , the E r i n 
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1 Number 1 should be worked on by squeezing and then 

t e s t e d . And then w e ' l l know whether i t should be e i t h e r 

plugged, or, i t would be a wonderful water i n j e c t i o n w e l l 

downdip from the E r i n Number 2. So then we would h i t i t 

from both sides, and t h a t would be nirvana. 

Q. Okay, what's the d i s p o s i t i o n , then, of the Jenny 

Number 1? 

A. We want t o plug t h a t as f a s t as p o s s i b l e . 

Q. Okay. You i n d i c a t e d t h a t the estimate you had 

received f o r plugging these w e l l s i n accordance w i t h the 

BLM s p e c i f i c a t i o n s was approximately $5000 per w e l l ; i s 

t h a t c o r r e c t ? 

A. That's the second estimate. The f i r s t estimate 

was much cheaper. 

Q. Okay. I f the $5000-per-well estimate were 

accurate f o r a l l of these — I t looks l i k e 12 w e l l s — 

A. You mean — you're suggesting p l u g g i n g the water 

wells? 

Q. Well, no, I'm j u s t doing some mathematics here, 

we're d e a l i n g w i t h 12 w e l l s — 

A. Well, t h a t ' s a l o t of money, i f you — 

Q. — a t $5000 per w e l l — 

A. — wanted t o plug them a l l a t once, t h a t ' s 

$60,000, yes. 

Q. Correct. And t h a t i s considerably more than the 
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$2 5,000 i n s e c u r i t y you've posted w i t h the BLM, i s i t not? 

A. I t c e r t a i n l y i s . That's why I b e l i e v e we need t o 

plu g some w e l l s , so t h a t you don't have any f i n a n c i a l r i s k . 

Q. Now, you are aware, are you not, t h a t t he 

commencement of wa t e r f l o o d r e q u i r e s approval by the O i l 

Conservation D i v i s i o n as w e l l as the BLM? 

A. I am as of today, even though — 

Q. And you're — 

A. — no one ever mentioned t h a t . 

Q. You are aware t h a t t h a t r e q u i r e s approval, but 

t h a t approval must be made by the Santa Fe O f f i c e — 

A. I don't know. 

Q. — s p e c i f i c a l l y ? 

A. That's why we have t h a t gentleman over t h e r e . 

I'm sure h e ' l l help me. 

Q. Okay. And he has advised you t h a t t h e r e i s a 

f a i r l y extensive procedure involved? 

A. He says i t ' s awful. 

Q. Well, I t h i n k the D i v i s i o n Examiners might agree 

w i t h him. 

A. You know, the BLM t o l d me, David, t h a t they had 

not had an approval done or asked f o r on a w a t e r f l o o d i n a 

l o t of years. 

Q. Well, okay. You had i n d i c a t e d — Your testimony 

seemed t o i n d i c a t e t h a t there was some c o n f l i c t between 
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what the OCD D i s t r i c t O f f i c e was r e q u i r i n g or expecting and 

what the BLM was r e q u i r i n g and expecting. Could you 

elabo r a t e on that ? 

A. There i s a huge problem. 

Q. And what i s the nature of t h a t problem? 

A. The problem i s , i s t h a t we've been working f o r 

two and a h a l f years w i t h the BLM, we f i l e d t he papers t h a t 

we thought were needed, and along comes the OCD and says 

drop e v e r y t h i n g and spend a l l your money and plug a l l t he 

w e l l s or do something w i t h them i n s t a n t l y . And we don't 

have the money t o do both, t h a t ' s the problem. 

And by the way, the BLM p r i o r t o t h i s has been 

extremely h e l p f u l . They are wonderful people, and we'd 

l i k e t o get the same r e l a t i o n s h i p w i t h you gentlemen. 

Q. Well, has the OCD i n d i c a t e d — has anyone w i t h 

the OCD i n d i c a t e d t o you t h a t f o l l o w i n g through w i t h your 

p l a n t h a t you have t o l d us you've submitted and — Well, 

l e t me back up. 

Has the plan t h a t you've submitted t o the BLM 

been approved by the BLM? 

A. Has the plan t h a t I submitted t o the BLM been 

approved yet? 

Q. Been approved by the BLM? 

A. Which plan? 

Q. Well, I don't know because I haven't seen your 

STEVEN T. BRENNER, CCR 
(505) 989-9317 



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

44 

pl a n . I'm j u s t asking — 

A. A c t u a l l y , t h a t was requested by C h a r l i e P e r r i n , 

and I had i t s p e c i a l l y e-mailed t o him from a computer 

center, and u n f o r t u n a t e l y he was not a t h i s o f f i c e p r i o r t o 

the hearing and you never saw i t . 

Q. I never d i d see i t , but — 

A. — but he's got i t . 

Q. Has t h i s plan t h a t we're t a l k i n g about, has i t 

been approved by the BLM? 

A. The wa t e r f l o o d plan? 

Q. Yes. 

A. No, i t has not, they've been s i t t i n g on i t f o r a 

year and a h a l f , a t , p a r t i a l l y , my request because I t o l d 

the g e o l o g i s t , Look, i n f a c t , we're not going t o have 

enough money t o d r i l l the i n j e c t i o n w e l l u n t i l 

approximately t h i s f a l l — t h a t ' s p r i o r t o a l l the OCD 

s t u f f — and so I know you're having fun and you're 

overworked, but can you get i t done by the s p r i n g of t h i s 

year? 

And he said sure. They've been very h e l p f u l . 

But they haven't f i n i s h e d k i c k i n g the t i r e around on t h a t 

p l a n . 

Q. Okay. Could you e x p l a i n t o us why — Well, back 

up. 

There are fou r w e l l s you're going t o plug i n any 
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event, c o r r e c t ? 

A. Yes, s i r . 

Q. Can you e x p l a i n t o us why i t ' s necessary t o ho l d 

o f f on plugging those w e l l s u n t i l the e n t i r e p l a n i s 

approved? 

A. Well, i t ' s necessary f o r two reasons. 

One, I don't have the money t o plug a l l the w e l l s 

a l l a t once. That's the p r a c t i c a l aspect of i t , i f anybody 

cares. 

And the other reason i s , the p r a c t i c a l aspect i s , 

i t would seem t o be a p r e t t y sad t h i n g t o plug the w e l l s 

before you know you're going t o need them or not, the other 

f o u r w e l l s , because i f — you want t o get as much 

pro d u c t i o n going as f a s t as you can economically, and i f 

you plug those w e l l s and then d r i l l a w e l l — p i c k a 

number; two years from now? — and you h i t and you'd l i k e 

t o have the water use from the w e l l s t h a t you're suggesting 

t h a t we — you know, a l l e i g h t plugged immediately — then 

what you're going t o do i s , you're going t o increase the 

cost d r a m a t i c a l l y and slow the development. 

Q. But my question was s p e c i f i c a l l y t a i l o r e d t o the 

fo u r w e l l s t h a t you're going t o plug i n any event. What 

reason i s t h e r e not t o go ahead and plug those wells? 

A. What reason there i s t o plug the f o u r wells? 

Q. Not t o plug. I f you're going — 

STEVEN T. BRENNER, CCR 
(505) 989-9317 



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

46 

A. Oh, why wouldn't — 

Q. — you have fo u r w e l l s you know you need t o plug, 

why not go ahead and plug them? 

A. I'm going t o . 

Q. Can you t e l l us when? 

A. Well, i t w i l l be a f t e r we get the approval from 

the BLM. 

Q. What approval from the BLM? 

A. They have t o sign o f f on the — they s a i d , and 

Ch a r l i e s a i d so too. You have t o put an a p p l i c a t i o n i n — 

a sundry n o t i c e , I be l i e v e i t ' s c a l l e d — t o the BLM, and 

they have t o okay the engineering of i t . 

Q. Okay, I agree w i t h t h a t , but the only t h i n g 

you're w a i t i n g f o r — 

A. — i s t h e i r approval. 

Q. — i s the — on plugging these w e l l s i s the 

approval of your C-103 request t o pl u g ; i s t h a t c o r r e c t ? 

A. I guess t h a t ' s what you c a l l i t , yes, s i r . 

Q. Has — 

A. Pat Hester — 

Q. — Notice of i n t e n t t o plug — 

A. Yes, s i r . 

Q. — i s what i t ' s c a l l e d . That has been f i l e d ? 

A. I t ' s been f i l e d t w i c e , a c t u a l l y , and the l a s t one 

was f i l e d a few weeks ago, and Pat Hester says i t has t o 
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have a l i t t l e adjustment t o i t , so she hoped t o have the 

a c t u a l s i g n - o f f on t h a t a p p l i c a t i o n i n the next couple 

weeks. 

Q. Okay. And a f t e r t h a t i s done, you w i l l proceed 

t o p l u g those wells? 

A. Faster than — I f I could do i t myself, I ' d do i t 

the next day. 

Q. Okay. So would i t be f a i r t o say t h a t you 

probably could have those four w e l l s plugged w i t h i n the 

next 60 days? 

A. I sure hope so, I'm t i r e d of hearing about them. 

Q. Okay. Now, implementing your p l a n as t o the 

remaining e i g h t w e l l s w i l l r e q u i r e the approval of both the 

BLM and the OCD, correct? 

A. I am hoping and keeping my f i n g e r s crossed t h a t 

the OCD and the BLM w i l l come t o some reasonable compromise 

so t h a t we can allow the w a t e r f l o o d t o go sooner r a t h e r 

than never — 

Q. Well, are you — 

A. — and i t r e q u i r e s your help t o o . 

Q. I s the r e — This goes back t o the question I 

asked before. I s there any c o n f l i c t t h a t you're aware of 

between what the OCD wants and what the BLM wants, other 

than t h a t the OCD has t h i s i n a c t i v e w e l l program, and 

they ' r e t r y i n g t o get a l l the i n a c t i v e w e l l s taken care of 

STEVEN T. BRENNER, CCR 
(505) 989-9317 



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

48 

as soon as possible? 

A. The only c o n f l i c t i s not i n i n t e n t but i n t i m i n g . 

Q. You're not aware of anything the BLM wants t o 

r e q u i r e you t o do t h a t the OCD disapproves of? 

A. I hope not. No, I'm not. 

Q. Or anything t h a t the OCD wants you t o do t h a t the 

BLM disapproves of? 

A. Well, "disapproves", t h a t ' s an i n t e r e s t i n g word. 

The BLM agreed t h a t we should do e v e r y t h i n g we could w i t h 

our cash fl o w t o expand the production of the f i e l d . And 

so only i f the OCD doesn't allow the BLM a l i t t l e l a t i t u d e 

on t i m i n g — I f they do allow a l a t i t u d e on t i m i n g , we're 

going t o have a l o t of fun and increase the revenues f o r 

both the State and the BLM. 

Q. Has the BLM given you any i n d i c a t i o n of the 

t i m i n g t h a t they w i l l r e q u i r e t o get approval on these 

matters? 

A. Approval on the plugging? 

Q. No, on the w a t e r f l o o d operation? 

A. Not r e a l l y , because I haven't asked the question. 

I was going t o ask the question t h i s s p r i n g , but I've been 

k i n d of busy w i t h the OCD, and so consequently I haven't 

asked Brian Davis t h a t question. 

Q. So you're not i n a p o s i t i o n — Even given the 

question about how long the OCD approval w i l l r e q u i r e , 
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you're not i n a p o s i t i o n t o give us an i n d i c a t i o n of how 

long i t would take t o get t h i s implemented, t h i s — 

A. The w a t e r f l o o d , you mean? 

Q. — the w a t e r f l o o d p r o j e c t implemented? 

A. I can only guess t h a t i f we use enough money t o 

p l u g the f o u r w e l l s , t h a t t h a t w i l l delay us about s i x 

months. So i f you add s i x months t o the f a l l , which was 

our o r i g i n a l estimate, then t h e o r e t i c a l l y we should be 

p u t t i n g i n the water i n j e c t i o n w e l l and keeping our f i n g e r s 

crossed i n the s p r i n g of t h i s coming year. That's the 

theory behind i t . And i f I had more money I ' d do i t 

tomorrow. 

Q. Now, j u s t a few housekeeping matters here. Mr. 

Carr r e f e r r e d t o a hearing i n September. I f you have 

copies of your correspondence and r e f e r t o them, would i t 

not be accurate t o — I don't know, do you have copies of 

your correspondence w i t h Mr. Perrin? 

A. A c t u a l l y , I gave them a l l t o my lawyer. 

Q. Okay, I w i l l show you what's been marked as OCD 

E x h i b i t s Numbers 5 and 6 — 

A. Okay. 

Q. — and ask you i f t h a t does not r e f r e s h your 

r e c o l l e c t i o n t h a t i n f a c t these events t r a n s p i r e d i n 

October of 2001? 

A. That's the l e t t e r I wrote. Therefore, t h a t 
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should be completely accurate — 

Q. Okay — 

A. — as f a r as I know. 

Q. — Mr. Coulthurst, your address i s 1990 Marin 

Avenue, Berkeley, C a l i f o r n i a 94707; i s t h a t c o r r e c t ? 

A. Not only t h a t , I've been t h e r e 13 years. 

Q. Okay. I w i l l show you a copy of what has been 

marked as OCD E x h i b i t Number 3. That appears t o be a 

l e t t e r addressed t o the address I j u s t read, does i t not? 

A. Absolutely. 

Q. And would you look a t the second page t h e r e , and 

does t h a t appear t o be c o r r e c t l y addressed on the envelope? 

I r e a l i z e i t ' s a l i t t l e hard t o read because the p o s t a l 

s e r v i c e apparently scratched through i t . 

A. I don't know why they d i d t h a t . I t looks l i k e 

the c o r r e c t address. 

Q. Can you give us any explanation why t h a t l e t t e r 

was re t u r n e d unclaimed? 

A. The only — w e l l , I'm guessing. F i r s t of a l l , I 

never saw — the post o f f i c e — I get about 20 c e r t i f i e d 

l e t t e r s a year from a l l kinds of people. I have a b s o l u t e l y 

no knowledge when i t comes who i t ' s from, because ther e ' s 

no name on them. 

Q. Right. 

A. The only way t h a t I don't get something i s i f the 
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postman doesn't leave a s l i p saying he t r i e d t o d e l i v e r i t . 

Q. Well, do you ever get those s l i p s and not f o l l o w 

up on them and go t o the post o f f i c e and c o l l e c t the mail? 

A. Not only have I never done t h a t , I implore you 

and request you, please c a l l the BLM and ask them. 

MR. BROOKS: Okay. I b e l i e v e t h a t concludes my 

examination. I ' l l pass the witness. 

CHAIRMAN WROTENBERY: Commissioner Bailey? 

EXAMINATION 

BY COMMISSIONER BAILEY: 

Q. I never d i d hear c l e a r l y what the name of the 

f i e l d i s . 

A. I t ' s c a l l e d the South San Luis F i e l d . There i s a 

l i t t l e North San Luis F i e l d , which i s about a m i l e and a 

h a l f or something l i k e t h a t , which Noel Reynolds has kept. 

Noel Reynolds had t h i s f i e l d , and b a s i c a l l y was not 

successful i n doing anything w i t h i t before I bought i t . 

Q. Do you know r i g h t o f f the zone of production? 

A. I t ' s the Menefee zone a t around 650 f e e t , 

depending on which w e l l you're t a l k i n g about. 

Q. I l i s t e n e d very c a r e f u l l y when Mr. Carr 

enumerated a l l of the commitments t h a t you d i d commit t o , 

and t h e r e was a commitment t o plug and abandon the f o u r 

w e l l s as soon as the BLM gives approval f o r the pluggi n g 

program? 
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A. That i s c o r r e c t . 

Q. That you w i l l f i l e the c o r r e c t forms w i t h t he OCD 

as f a r as the u n i t , a p p l i c a t i o n and the plugging and 

abandonment? 

A. Yes, w i t h Mr. Carr's help, because i t sounds 

complex, yes. 

Q. That you w i l l coordinate w i t h t he OCD on a l l 

matters i n which the OCD i s involved? 

A. Absolutely. 

Q. But I d i d not hear any commitment on Bradenhead 

t e s t s f o r the remaining w e l l s . 

A. That i s because a t the moment I don't have enough 

money t o do ever y t h i n g a t once, t h a t ' s c o r r e c t . 

Q. So you're not making any commitment a t a l l t o — 

A. I w i l l make a commitment w i t h — 

Q. — t e s t these — 

A. — yes — 

Q. — remaining wells? 

A. — yes, ma'am, I w i l l do t h a t as soon as 

f i n a n c i a l l y f e a s i b l e . 

Q. I n the meantime, you t e s t i f i e d t h a t t h e r e are 

zones of f r e s h water w i t h i n the w e l l s t h a t you are saving 

as water wells? 

A. Correct, t h a t ' s why they're water w e l l s . 

Q. However, the producing zone i s not being i s o l a t e d 
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from those water — 

A. That's because those w e l l s — 

Q. — freshwater — 

A. — were not cemented p r o p e r l y , t h a t ' s c o r r e c t . 

Q. Which means t h a t t h e r e i s p o t e n t i a l contamination 

of the f r e s h water i n t h a t area by these w e l l s t h a t you are 

not going t o be t e s t i n g ? 

A. That i s c o r r e c t , and t h a t — however, we have 

taken water out of the zones, and not only were they not 

contaminated, but they were okayed by the BLM a f t e r being 

t e s t e d i n a l a b o r a t o r y . 

And also they're very low-pressure zones, and the 

problem i s , the only t h i n g t h a t flows out of them i s not 

the o i l but the water. 

Q. I'm sure the env i r o n m e n t a l i s t s w i l l be i n t e r e s t e d 

i n t h i s one. 

I would also l i k e t o ask you i f you i n t e n d t o 

take any other measures t o p r o t e c t the freshwater zones 

u n t i l you have time t o perform these Bradenhead t e s t s . 

A. I don't know what else we could do, w i t h the — 

Q. I'm sure t h a t ' s a discussion between you and the 

BLM and C h a r l i e P e r r i n — 

A. I would hope so. 

Q. — t h a t needs t o take place. 

A. Abs o l u t e l y . 
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Q. So there's a commitment t o have t h a t type of 

conversation w i t h the — 

A. Much more than t h a t . 

COMMISSIONER BAILEY: Okay, those are the only 

questions I have r i g h t now. 

CHAIRMAN WROTENBERY: Commissioner Lee? 

EXAMINATION 

BY COMMISSIONER LEE: 

Q. Did you pay Gene Wilson and W i l l i a m Weiss as a 

consultant? 

A. Did I pay them as a consultant? A b s o l u t e l y . 

FURTHER EXAMINATION 

BY MR. CARR: 

Q. Mr. Coulthurst, d i d Mr. Weiss work f o r you, or 

was t h a t work done p r i o r t o your a c q u i r i n g the property? 

A. I paid him as a consultant t o give me an op i n i o n 

on the w a t e r f l o o d p o t e n t i a l f o r the p r o j e c t before I bought 

the p r o j e c t , yes, s i r . 

MR. CARR: A l l r i g h t , thank you. 

FURTHER EXAMINATION 

BY COMMISSIONER LEE: 

Q. Do you r e a l i z e — What time i s t h a t ? What year 

i s t h a t ? 

A. What year t h a t I paid him as a consultant? 1990. 

Q. Do you r e a l i z e W i l l i a m Weiss was a Commissioner 
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of this body? 

A. I have no idea what h i s background i s , except I 

heard he was very good and he was a professor a t the school 

i n Socorro — 

Q. So you are w i l l i n g — 

A. — and t h a t was before I bought the p r o p e r t y . 

Q. So you are w i l l i n g t o ask them t o come over here 

t o present your plan? 

A. You want me t o h i r e him t o do what? 

Q. Are they w i l l i n g t o come over here t o — under 

oath, t o t e l l us what t h e i r plan i s? 

A. They don't have a plan. He gave me a suggestion 

t h a t — 

Q. But he d i d the c o n s u l t i n g w i t h you? 

A. That i s c o r r e c t . I'm sure they would be w i l l i n g 

t o come over anywhere and t e l l you t h a t he was a 

c o n s u l t a n t . 

Q. You d i d n ' t know t h i s c o n s u l t i n g a c t i v i t y i s l e g a l 

or i l l e g a l ? 

A. I don't even know why — Why would i t be i l l e g a l ? 

I guess the answer i s no, I don't know. 

Q. Okay, thank you. 

A. And by the way, I hadn't bought i t y e t . A l l I 

was asking was g e o l o g i c a l advice. 

Q. But you d i d pay them? 
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A. Absolutely, he wouldn't do it for nothing. And 

he was supposed to be n expert in waterfloods, that's a l l I 

know. 

Q. Okay. 

A. And he's not p a r t i c i p a t i n g i n t h i s f i e l d a t a l l . 

Q. I j u s t want t o know whether you pai d him or not. 

A. Absol u t e l y , yes, s i r . 

COMMISSIONER LEE: Okay, thank you. 

CHAIRMAN WROTENBERY: Thank you. 

EXAMINATION 

BY CHAIRMAN WROTENBERY: 

Q. I would j u s t l i k e t o f o l l o w up on some of the 

questions Commissioner Bailey had, because I heard two 

d i f f e r e n t t h i n g s a t two d i f f e r e n t times, because I 

understood when you were responding t o some of Mr. Carr's 

questions t h a t you intended t o t e m p o r a r i l y abandon e i g h t of 

the 12 w e l l s . 

Let me ask f i r s t of a l l , make sure I heard the 

testimony r i g h t . There are a t o t a l of 14 w e l l s ; i s t h a t 

c o r r e c t ? 

A. I n c l u d i n g two producing. I s t h a t r i g h t ? That 

sounds r i g h t . 

Q. Yes, and two of those are producing. I t h i n k you 

mentioned one of those i s the E r i n Number 2. What's the 

other producer? 
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A. 2 and 9, E r i n 2 and 9, they're both — 

Q. E r i n Number 9. 

A. They're ten acres apart, east-west. 

Q. And E r i n Number 2, E r i n Number 9 are producing, 

they're not p a r t of t h i s proceeding? 

A. No. 

Q. The other 12 w e l l s , I b e l i e v e , are p a r t of t h i s 

proceeding? 

A. Yes, ma'am. 

Q. They're a l l i n a c t i v e , you've s a i d t h a t . 

A. Yes, ma'am. 

Q. Four of them you inte n d t o plug and abandon. And 

at one p o i n t I thought I heard you t e s t i f y t h a t the other 

e i g h t you intended t o t e m p o r a r i l y abandon under the 

Commission's procedures, which i n v o l v e a pressure t e s t and 

the s e t t i n g of a bridge plug or some type of — 

A. Well, i t would be wonderful i f we could 

t e m p o r a r i l y abandon those w e l l s u n t i l we need t o use them 

and t e s t them f o r the wa t e r f l o o d , but I don't know whether 

the OCD w i l l allow me t o do t h a t . That seems t o be a 

t e r r i b l e waste of money, t o spend money on them before you 

need them, but... 

And plus the f a c t , I don't have enough c a p i t a l t o 

do a l l the t e s t i n g and a l l the plugging i n s t a n t l y . I do 

over a p e r i o d of time — 
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Q. Okay. 

A. — because our in v e s t o r s have been superb on 

t h i s , and they have not gotten one penny on t h e i r — the 

only people t h a t have made any money on t h i s deal are the 

OCD and the BLM. 

Q. Do you understand t h a t you have several options 

f o r b r i n g i n g these w e l l s i n t o compliance? 

A. I ' d l i k e t o hear a c l a r i f i c a t i o n of i t , please. 

Q. Okay. One of them would be t o r e t u r n them t o 

pro d u c t i o n . 

A. I t ' s not going t o happen, because they're not 

economic. 

Q. One of them would be t o plug and abandon them, 

and you've i d e n t i f i e d f o u r t h a t you do plan t o pl u g and 

abandon. 

A. Right, and they should be plugged. 

Q. Okay, and another would be t o t e m p o r a r i l y abandon 

them under the p r o v i s i o n s of the D i v i s i o n ' s Rules, which 

would i n v o l v e some t e s t i n g t o ensure t h a t t he w e l l s are not 

a hazard t o the environment. 

A. I would need some time t o do a l l the t e s t i n g on 

a l l the w e l l s , because I don't have enough c a p i t a l t o do 

a l l the t e s t i n g and the plugging a t the same time. But 

remember, please, t h a t the BLM does have a $25,000 bond. 

So I'm not asking the OCD t o take any f i n a n c i a l r i s k i n 
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t h i s once we do the four w e l l s . 

But I also know t h a t you apparently have a 

concern of t e s t i n g them as q u i c k l y as p o s s i b l e so t h a t 

t here's no p o t e n t i a l — environmental-disaster p o t e n t i a l , 

although I t h i n k they've been there f o r 2 0 t o 4 0 years. 

I've not heard anybody say there i s one, but we're 

c e r t a i n l y not encouraging i t . 

Q. And a t t h i s p o i n t we r e a l l y don't know — 

A. Well, we're r e a l l y not — 

Q. — what the i n t e g r i t y — 

A. Nobody's — 

Q. — of the casing i s on those wells? 

A. No, the only t e s t i n g we ever d i d f o r the f r e s h 

water came out clean enough t o d r i n k . 

Q. When you answered Mr. Carr's question about how 

long you would need t o b r i n g these w e l l s i n t o compliance, I 

t h i n k a t one p o i n t you mentioned s i x months. What work — 

A. Well, s i x months — 

Q. — were you proposing t o do w i t h i n t h a t six-month 

or 180-day period? 

A. Right, I ' d l i k e t o — With the c a p i t a l t h a t we 

have, I would l i k e t o plug those w e l l s as f a s t as p o s s i b l e 

and ask the — and I'm going t o ask. I ' d l i k e t o have the 

OCD and the BLM have some agreement so t h a t we can have 

some serious time, maybe a year or two, t o do the i n t e g r i t y 
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t e s t i n g , so t h a t we have some money a v a i l a b l e t o implement 

the w a t e r f l o o d as we were doing w i t h the BLM. 

You know, i t takes a long time t o get the money 

up when you're producing nine b a r r e l s a day. I wish i t was 

f a s t e r . 

Q. And I also had one question f o r you about the Ann 

Number 15, because you were saying you r e a l l y don't know 

which w e l l t h a t i s . I n your plan t h a t you submitted t o 

C h a r l i e P e r r i n , you described a w e l l about 200 f e e t west of 

the Ann 19 — 

A. Uh-huh. 

Q. — and you said you had no record of i t . 

A. I could f i n d — Nobody could f i n d a record f o r 

me. That's r i g h t , t h a t may be the Ann 15. 

Q. And then you asked whether t h a t was the Ann 15. 

A. And he sai d he — 

Q. How d i d you know about t h i s w e l l 2 00 f e e t west of 

the Ann 19? 

A. Because we asked the plugging company t o go out 

t h e r e and k i c k the t i r e s and t e l l us the s t a t u s of the 

w e l l s , those o l d w e l l s , and they came back w i t h one w e l l 

t h a t they couldn't i d e n t i f y . 

Q. Okay. 

A. There's obviously an o l d w e l l t h a t ' s been t h e r e 

f o r a l o t of years, and I'm guess- — We can a l l guess but 
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don't know. I t may be the Ann 15. And something should be 

done about — 

Q. What i s your plan f o r t h a t p a r t i c u l a r w e l l ? 

A. I have no plan, I haven't g o t t e n t h a t f a r , but 

obvio u s l y i t has t o be done. That w i l l be p a r t of t h e 

disc u s s i o n over the next month or so w i t h Mr. P e r r i n . 

Q. What has the BLM t o l d you, i f anything a t a l l , 

about the compliance s t a t u s of these wells? Because BLM 

has s i m i l a r r u l e s t o the O i l Conservation D i v i s i o n ' s 

concerning the — 

A. Yeah, they b a s i c a l l y s a i d as long as you're 

r o l l i n g ahead as f a s t as poss i b l e t o increase p r o d u c t i o n , 

they were w i l l i n g t o w a i t t o plug the w e l l s and i n t e g r i t y 

t e s t u n t i l a f t e r the i n j e c t i o n w e l l was put i n . That's 

what they s a i d t o me. 

And t h a t ' s when they s a i d , Please f i l e 

immediately the w a t e r f l o o d a p p l i c a t i o n , which took me about 

two and a h a l f months t o wade through t h a t package. So I 

was t r y i n g t o f o l l o w t h e i r advice. 

And thank heavens they s a i d t h a t , because 

otherwise we'd never get t o do the w a t e r f l o o d . Well, not 

never, but i t would take probably three years. 

Q. Do you own or operate w e l l s i n any other s t a t e 

besides New Mexico? 

A. No, nothing. 
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CHAIRMAN WROTENBERY: Those are a l l the questions 

I had. Did you have anything e l s e , Commissioners? 

COMMISSIONER BAILEY: No. 

COMMISSIONER LEE: (Shakes head) 

CHAIRMAN WROTENBERY: Mr. Carr, d i d you have any 

follow-up? 

MR. CARR: No, no questions. I have j u s t a b r i e f 

statement. 

CHAIRMAN WROTENBERY: Go ahead. 

MR. CARR: May i t please the Commission, 

obviously we have an operator who i s n ' t t r y i n g t o hide from 

h i s r e s p o n s i b i l i t i e s here. We would l i k e t o get i n t o the 

p o s i t i o n t h a t Mr. Coulthurst s a i d where — you know, not 

only happy w i t h the BLM and the OCD but w i t h him. To do 

t h a t , t h e r e are a c e r t a i n amount of resources a v a i l a b l e . 

To access the bond as a r e g u l a t o r y agency would leave you 

i n the p o s i t i o n of Mr. Coulthurst, w i t h something you want 

t o do w i t h o u t the funds t o do i t . And ye t a t the same 

time, Mr. Coult h u r s t i s ready t o go a f t e r and address the 

f i r s t f o u r by plugging them. 

And then as t o these other compliance issues, i n 

these water problems which no one i s t r y i n g t o avoid or 

duck, address those and coordinate t h a t a c t i v i t y w i t h not 

j u s t the BLM but w i t h the Aztec O f f i c e of the OCD. We've 

requested a continuance of the case. I t i s n ' t t h a t we 
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would suggest you wa i t s i x months and hear from us again i n 

s i x months. We commit t o you t o stay i n close c o n t a c t w i t h 

Mr. P e r r i n and w i t h your o f f i c e s i n Aztec and come forward 

w i t h a program t h a t w i l l not be p u t t i n g these w e l l s — 

le a v i n g your concern sometime i n the d i s t a n t f u t u r e , but 

g e t t i n g us on a ti m e t a b l e so t h a t we're together going 

a f t e r t h i s problem, so t h a t i t i s n ' t a problem f o r your or 

f o r C o u l t h u r s t Management and Investment. 

CHAIRMAN WROTENBERY: Thank you, Mr. Carr. 

Mr. Brooks? 

MR. BROOKS: Yes. F i r s t of a l l , I w i l l represent 

t o the Commission t h a t — c a l l i n g your a t t e n t i o n t o OCD 

E x h i b i t Number 2, the a f f i d a v i t of n o t i c e , t h a t t he l e t t e r 

which was sent t o Mr. Coulthurst g i v i n g him n o t i c e of the 

D i v i s i o n Hearing i n October, although i t was c o r r e c t l y 

addressed, was n e i t h e r — so f a r as I have been able t o 

a s c e r t a i n a f t e r examining my f i l e s , the D i v i s i o n ' s case 

f i l e s and t a l k i n g w i t h those people who receiv e the m a i l , I 

have been unable t o a s c e r t a i n t h a t e i t h e r the r e t u r n 

r e c e i p t has ever been returned t o the D i v i s i o n , or the 

l e t t e r i t s e l f has ever been returned t o the D i v i s i o n , and 

t h a t ' s a most unusual s i t u a t i o n . So f a r as I can t e l l , I 

can't a s c e r t a i n t h a t e i t h e r has ever been r e t u r n e d t o the 

D i v i s i o n . So there does seem t o be a reasonable 

p o s s i b i l i t y t h a t Mr. Coulthurst d i d not have n o t i c e of the 
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D i v i s i o n Hearing, as he has so s t a t e d . 

I n view of t h a t , and i n view of the plans he has 

announced, I be l i e v e t h a t a l l o w i n g him some time t o b r i n g 

these w e l l s i n t o production should be — i s not 

i n a p p r o p r i a t e . 

However, I bel i e v e t h a t i f the proceeding i s t o 

be continued, i t should be continued not i n excess of 60 

days, because i t should not take longer than t h a t t o plug 

these f o u r w e l l s . And I be l i e v e t h a t i f the commitment t o 

plug these f o u r w e l l s promptly i s not complied w i t h , then 

the m i t i g a t i n g circumstances i n Mr. Co u l t h u r s t ' s f a v o r 

would be l a r g e l y exhausted. 

The Commission probably has a b e t t e r idea than I 

do, because I'm r e l a t i v e l y new here, how long a l l t h i s 

procedure w i l l take, so f a r as g e t t i n g these a p p l i c a t i o n s 

approved by both the BLM and by us. But I would suggest 

t h a t the appropriate time t o r e v i s i t t h i s would be i n 60 

days t o see i f the plugging has been done. and I would 

suggest t o the Commission t h a t i f i t i s , the D i v i s i o n would 

not have any o b j e c t i o n t o a f u r t h e r reasonable continuance 

t o g i v e an o p p o r t u n i t y t o determine i f the plans t h a t he 

has submitted are f e a s i b l e . Thank you. 

CHAIRMAN WROTENBERY: Thank you, Mr. Brooks. 

We recognize, then, t h a t we have a request here 

from Mr. Coul t h u r s t f o r a continuance i n t h i s case. I 
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b e l i e v e the Commission needs t o d e l i b e r a t e on t h a t question 

before we make a dec i s i o n whether t o continue the case or 

whether t o take i t under advisement a t t h i s time. We w i l l 

do t h a t l a t e r today, and then w e ' l l make an announcement 

about our next step i n t h i s p a r t i c u l a r matter. 

I s t here anything else, then, from — 

MR. BROOKS: Nothing f u r t h e r , your Honor. 

CHAIRMAN WROTENBERY: — a t t h i s time? 

Thank you very much, and thank you f o r your 

testimony, Mr. Coult h u r s t . 

THE WITNESS: Thank you f o r your time. I'm s o r r y 

i t took so long. 

(Off the record a t 11:41 a.m.) 

(The f o l l o w i n g proceedings had a t 4:40 p.m.) 

CHAIRMAN WROTENBERY: And then I t h i n k I need t o 

make an announcement. I n Case Number 12,7 39 we d i d leave 

open the question of whether we would continue t h a t case or 

take i t under advisement a t t h i s time, and I b e l i e v e based 

on our d e l i b e r a t i o n s we had decided t o take t h i s case under 

advisement a t t h i s time, and we w i l l do our best t o issue 

an order i n t h a t case, along w i t h the other cases we heard 

today, a t the next Commission hearing on A p r i l 26th, 2002. 

(Thereupon, these proceedings were concluded a t 

4:41 p.m.) 

* * * 
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